Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2017

In Re Estate of Donald Bret Kouns, Decedent, Greg Torgerson, Plaintiff and Appellant, v. Estate of Donald Bret Kouns, Defendant and Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

Summary of Argument

In its decision, the District Court held that: (1) Torgerson did not exercise sufficient diligence to warrant relief under Rule 60; and (2) Torgerson does not have a meritorious defense to the Kouns Estate Petition because his claim is time barred under the Utah Probate Code. The District Court's decision is in error.

The diligence required under Rule 60 does not rise to the level of "due diligence" or "perfect diligence." *Jones v. Layton/Okland*, 2009 UT 39, 214 P.3d 859, 863 (Ut.2009). All that is required is that the moving party show some diligence. *Id.* The facts in this case more than demonstrate the requisite diligence under Rule 60.

It is unquestioned that neither Torgerson nor his attorney, Lloyd Rickenbach, received notice of the April 18, 2016 hearing. (ROA #000064). It is also unquestioned that Lloyd Rickenbach moved to continue the hearing immediately after filing his Entry

9

Ø

۲

٨

٨

()

٨

٢

Ø

٢

٨

of Appearance in the Kouns Estate matter. (ROA #000107-109). To counter these unquestioned facts, the District Court relies almost exclusively on the Jill Miles alleged March 30, 2016 mailing. Such reliance is, however, misplaced.

۷

6

6

6

6

1

(iii)

6

6

6

The only proof of the March 30, 2016 mailing is Jill Miles' self-serving affidavit attached to the Kouns Estate's opposition to Torgerson's Rule 60 motion. (ROA #000229-30). There is no contemporaneously filed Certificate of Service and there is no proof of receipt from either the United States Post Office or any other postal courier. In short, the only proof of the mailing is Jill Miles' after-the-fact statement. Her statement stands in stark contrast to the statements made by Lloyd Rickenbach, an officer of the court, in both an affidavit and in open court, that the alleged mailing was not received.

The District Court also erred when it held that Torgerson's claim to the subject real property was time barred. Torgerson's claim is a claim for specific performance. He is asserting that he has a right to continue leasing the property and, thereafter, purchase the same. "The term 'claim' found in [the Probate Code] does not include a claim for specific performance. . . ." In Re Estate of Sharp, 537 P.2d 1034, 1037 (Ut.1975). Torgerson's claim cannot, therefore, be time barred by the Probate Code.

Argument

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED TORGERSON'S RULE 60 MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM JUDGMENT OR ORDER

A. Torgerson's acted with sufficient diligence to warrant relief under Rule 60

Torgerson brought his Rule 60 motion for relief under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. "For a district court to set aside a default judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b), 'a defendant must show: (i) that the judgment was entered against him through excusable neglect (or any other reason specified in Rule 60(b)), (ii) that his motion to set aside the judgment was timely, and (iii) that he has a meritorious defense to the action." *Bodell Construction v. Robbins*, 334 P.3d at 1007. "A district court has broad discretion to rule on a motion to set aside a default judgment under Rule 60(b)" *Id.* This discretion is not, however, unlimited. *Davis v. Goldsworthy*, 602 UT App. 145, 184 P.3d 626, 629 (Ut.Ct.App.2008).

٨

Ò

٨

۲

٢

٨

۵

٨

٨

 \oslash

٨

The District Court held that Torgerson failed to establish excusable neglect. "[T]here is no specific legal test for excusable neglect." Jones v. Layton/Okland, 214 P.3d at 863. "The equitable nature of the excusable neglect determination requires that a district court be free to consider all facts it deems relevant to its decision and weigh them accordingly." *Id.* The excusable part of excusable negligence imposes upon the moving party "some evidence of diligence in order to justify relief." *Id.* The diligence required under Rule 60 does not, however, rise to the level of "due diligence" or "perfect diligence." All that is required is that the moving party show some diligence. Torgerson demonstrated the level of diligence required to obtain relief under Rule 60(b).

The objective facts in this case show that: (1) neither Torgerson nor his attorney, Lloyd Rickenbach, were given notice of the April 18, 2016 hearing; and (2) immediately upon filing his Entry of Appearance in the Kouns Estate case, Lloyd Rickenbach, on behalf of Torgerson, filed a motion to continue the hearing. The significance of these

facts is that there was no way for either Torgerson or his attorney to know of the hearing absent Jill Miles' disputed alleged March 30, 2016 mailing.

٧

(ís

6

6

6

巅

G

6

63

ر)

The alleged March 30, 2016 mailing is suspect, at best. The only proof of the disputed mailing is Jill Miles' after-the-fact affidavit. There was no Certificate of Service filed by the Kouns Estate contemporaneously with the alleged mailing and the alleged and disputed mailing was not sent via any means requiring proof of service on the recipient. Logic would dictate that if the Kouns Estate mailed the notice "out of an abundance of caution," as the District Court states, some steps would have been taken to prove that the notice was actually mailed and received by Torgerson or his attorney. No such steps were taken and the alleged and disputed mailing stands in direct contrast to the affidavit and testimony of Lloyd Rickenbach, an officer of the court, that he did not receive any such delivery.

Absent the alleged mailing, there is no evidence that Torgerson, either personally or through his attorney, had notice of the April 18, 2016 hearing. The District Court implies that by virtue of the filing of the Declaratory Judgment Act Complaint, Torgerson and his attorney would have been put on notice of the hearing. This implication ignores the reality of the District Court's electronic filing system. A notice of hearing in the Kouns Estate would not have been apparent in the Declaratory Judgment Act case and Torgerson's attorney would not have had access to the Kouns Estate case until his Entry of Appearance was actually filed, on April 16, 2016.

The District Court also states that Lloyd Rickenbach had ample opportunity to attend the hearing, even if notice of said hearing was received on April 16, 2016. This

statement ignores two important facts. One, two days would have been insufficient for an adequate defense to the Kouns Estate Petition to be mounted by Torgerson. Two, a fact apparently lost on the District Court, Lloyd Rickenbach resides in the State of Arizona and was in Arizona on April 16, 2016. It would have been virtually impossible for Lloyd Rickenbach to arrange transportation to Richfield and prepare for the hearing in less than a day and a half, notwithstanding that Lloyd Rickenbach had a prior commitment in Arizona scheduled for the 18th.

٢

٦

Ò

٨

Ø

٧

Ì

٨

٧

Ì

Ø

It should also be noted that the District Court stated in its decision that it set the hearing after it had become aware of the Declaratory Judgment Act case and the purpose of the hearing was to give all parties an opportunity to be heard. Given this purpose, it would seem imperative that the District Court should take all necessary steps to insure all parties received notice, and upon finding out that such notice was not given, taken steps to remedy the error. In this case, grant Torgeron's Rule 60 motion.

Under the circumstances described herein, Torgerson more than demonstrated the diligence required to obtain relief under Rule 60.

B. Torgerson has a meritorious defense to the Kouns Estate Petition.

The purpose of the Kouns Estate Petition was to obtain authorization from the District Court to lease and sell certain real property owned by the Estate to an individual named Josh Talbot. The property to be leased and sold was the same property in which Torgerson claimed an interest via the agreements between Mr. Kouns and Torgerson executed when Mr. Kouns was still alive. Togerson's claim was a claim for specific

performance of the agreements and the Kouns Estate Petition was an attempt to quiet title. The default judgment in question quieted title in favor of the Kouns Estate.

The District Court acknowledged that Torgerson was not required to prove his case on a Rule 60 motion. The District Court also acknowledged the existence of photocopied checks, two short lease agreements and other available evidence that Torgerson would rely upon to prove his right to the real property in question. The District Court held, however, that this evidence was irrelevant because of the "elephant in the room." The "elephant in the room," according to the District Court, was Torgerson's failure to commence an action to enforce his claim within sixty (60) days after the Kouns Estate denied the claim. The District Court held that this failure permanently barred Torgerson's claim leaving him without a meritorious defense to the Kouns Estate Petition.

There was no "elephant in the room." While the Probate Code does require the timely commencement of an action to enforce a claim, the claim being asserted by Torgerson is not subject to this requirement. "The term 'claim' found in [the Probate Code] does not include a claim for specific performance, but refers to debts or demands against the decedent which might have been enforced in his lifetime, by personal actions for the recovery of money; and upon which only a money judgment could have been rendered." *In Re Estate of Sharp*, 537 at 1037.

Torgerson's claim is one of specific performance in that he is seeking to force the Kouns Estate to honor his right to continue to lease and, ultimately, purchase the real property in question. In short, Torgerson is seeking to force the Kouns Estate to honor

14

,

6

6

6

60

6

6

رک)

1

٧

the wishes of Mr. Kouns and sell the subject property to Torgerson. Torgerson's *pro se* "claim" filed in the probate case does not, by virtue of the filing, transform his claim for specific performance into a claim subject to the time requirements set forth in the Probate Code.

(a)

٨

 $\langle \rangle$

٨

 $^{()}$

 \oslash

۲

٨

٢

Ì

Ŵ

The sole basis for the District Court's determination that Torgerson did not have a meritorious defense to the Kouns Estate Petition was that Torgerson's claim was time barred by the provisions of the Probate Code. As set forth herein, Torgerson's claim for specific performance is not subject to the time requirements of the Probate Code. Accordingly, Torgerson's claim is not time barred and his meritorious defense to the Petition is available and needs to be considered.

Conclusion

A dispute clearly existed between the Kouns Estate and Torgerson with regard to the subject property that needed to be resolved before the proposed lease to Josh Talbot could be executed. The preferred method under Utah law to resolve the dispute between the Kouns Estate and Torgerson would be for the Court to hear evidence presented by both parties and, based upon this evidence, determine the rights of the parties in the subject property. Basically, provide each party with their "day in court." Both parties were not, however, given their "day in court." Due to circumstances beyond his control, Torgerson was not given proper notice of the scheduled April 18, 2016 hearing and did not, therefore, appear, either personally or through counsel. Default judgment was entered against him and his rights in the subject property were terminated.

"The law disfavors default judgments . . . [and courts] . . . should incline towards granting relief in a doubtful case to the end that the parties may have a hearing." *Davis v*. *Goldsworthy*, 184 P.3d at 629. Rule 60 is the mechanism that courts utilize to relieve parties from undesired default judgments. The circumstances surrounding Torgerson's failure to appear at the April 18, 2016 are such that entitle him to relief from the default judgment in question. Accordingly, and for the reasons to be set forth herein, the District Court's decision should be reversed and the case remanded to allow Torgeron to present evidence of his entitlement to the property to the District Court.