Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2017

## In Re Estate of Donald Bret Kouns, Decedent, Greg Torgerson, Plaintiff and Appellant, v. Estate of Donald Bret Kouns, Defendant and Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Torgerson, as a fiduciary and appointed agent, had taken possession of all of the Kouns Estate property. Following the death of Kouns, Torgerson claimed a continuing right by reason of an executed contract. He denied all efforts of the personal representative to marshal the assets of the estate for the benefit of the heirs of Kouns. For a period of approximately one year he used all of the estate property for his benefit. The personal representative was required to file an action to seek Court assistance to obtain possession of the property at a critical time. Torgerson failed to respond to the action where orders were

entered terminating his claimed right to possession and authorizing the estate to possess and sell the property. Torgerson's response was a Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Default Orders entered. At the motion hearing he was given his day in Court and he failed to show any reasonable evidence that a contract granting him use and possession of the Estate property existed. His motion was properly denied.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Introduction and Background.

Pamela Peterson, Personal Representative of the estate of Donald Bret Kouns, Appellee, has set out a Statement of Facts numbered 1-28 which facts were before the District Court prior to the issued decision denying Torgerson's Rule 60 Motion. Peterson will refer specifically to some of those facts which seriously concerned the District Court in this very unusual case.

Following the appointment of Peterson as the Personal Representative of the Kouns estate, Case No. 153600021 she discovered Torgerson had possession of all of the assets owned by Kouns at the time of his death. On August 20, 2015 Peterson, through her counsel, advised Torgerson of the termination of all powers of attorney held by him; that his request for "Agreement to Continue Lease and Sell Property" to Torgerson will not be signed; that any verbal lease between Kouns and Torgerson was terminated following the 2015 agricultural season which ends October 1, 2015. (See Addendum 3 for a copy of the letter notice.) On October 7, 2015 Torgerson, acting pro se, filed a "Claim Against the State". The

۲

6

٨

٧

6

٢

۲

6

claim asserted (1) he had a written lease on real property between deceased and claimant that expires at the end of 2017; (2) he was entitled to compensation for investments and improvements to real property; (3) he had legal rights assigned in writing; (4) he had a right of first refusal as found in written lease and that the total value of the claim exceeds \$117,000.

The purported lease delivered with the claim was dated April 17, 2007. It provided no legal description of property. It stated "for use as feed those certain premises described as Charlie's Pasture and Town Cow Pasture east of Koosharem" for the sum of \$15 per head per month.

On October 9, 2015 Peterson denied the claim by Torgerson. The Kouns Estate did not own property known as Charlie's Pasture and property known as the Town Cow Pasture east of Koosharem. There was no contract granting Torgerson an interest in the property owned by the estate consisting of 140 acres of farm land, 130 shares of water stock and irrigation equipment and farm equipment. Torgerson did not commence any proceedings within 60 days after notice of disallowance as required by Probate Section 75-3-804(2).

Following the running of the statute of limitations against Torgerson's spurious claim, Torgerson retained possession of estate property and refused to deliver the property to the Personal Representative. Therefore, the Personal Representative did seek court assistance. On March 10, 2016 Peterson filed a petition for court approval of an agricultural lease and option to sell estate property to Talbot with the additional request that a writ of assistance be

۲

٨

0

0

۲

۲

۲

0

۲

٨

directed to the Sevier County Sheriff in order that the lessee be put in peaceful possession of the real property, water rights and sprinkling equipment. The petition commenced an action and gave the probate court full jurisdiction to determine any right claimed by Torgerson in the estate property (Probate Code 75-5-502).

#### ISSUE OF TORGERSON'S RIGHT TO POSSESSION AS A FIDUCIARY AND APPOINTED AGENT

In support of the petition Peterson filed three affidavits. (See Addendum 6.) Addendum 6A is the affidavit of Pam Peterson. Addendum 6B is the Affidavit of Josh Talbot and Addendum 6 C is the Affidavit of Dallas Hatch.

The Affidavit of Pam Peterson, Page 2, Paragraph A details the fact that Kouns had owned an interest in the Town Cow Pasture east of Koosharem. The Koosharem pasture land held by Kouns was deeded by him to Stanley W. Wood and Jesse W. Wood on February 23, 2010 (the recorded deed of conveyance from Kouns to Woods is attached as Exhibit 3)

Paragraph B of the Peterson Affidavit details the fact that in the year of 2000 Kouns owned what is described as Charlie's Pasture. The pasture was sold and conveyed to Josh Talbot on the 3<sup>rd</sup> day of March, 2009. Kouns had become delinquent in his financing and had to secure funds to prevent a foreclosure. The Default Notice served on Kouns and deed of conveyance are attached as Exhibits. In Paragraph C Peterson certifies the 140 plus acres of farming land with appurtenant sprinkling system and 130 shares of capital stock of Koosharem Irrigation Company are the only farm assets now held by the estate. These assets are the assets subject to the proposed (lease) and proposed (option) to sell to Josh Talbot.

۲

6

۲

۲

۲

۲

۲

۲

۲

 $\odot$ 

	The farming land, water stock, sprinkling system and farm equipment have been used by
٨	Greg Torgerson for a period of eight or more years.
	TORGERSON POSSESSED THE LAND AND ASSETS NOW OWNED BY THE ESTATE AS AN APPOINTED AGENT AND FIDUCIARY TO MANAGE THE ASSETS FOR KOUNS
۵	Peterson's Affidavit in Paragraph 9 identifies three powers of attorney executed by
	Bret (Kouns) which are:
۵	A. A Utah General Durable Power of Attorney granting Torgerson entire
	control over all assets owned by Kouns with special hand-written instructions extending the
۵	powers granted to agent (Torgerson). See Exhibit 7:
	The use of the farm and all ground. Access to manage all pastures and farm ground. Also dealings with "cow pasture" and water rights, voting rights.
۵	The power of attorney was executed on the $15^{th}$ day of September, 2007. On the same
	document there is an acknowledgment of the agent which states:
۵	By accepting or acting under the appointment, the agent assumes the fiduciary and other legal responsibilities of an agent. Signed Greg Torgerson
۵	The executed power of attorney is of special interest since it (1) makes Torgerson a
9	fiduciary who is managing Kouns' property for the benefit of Kouns; (2) the hand-written
	language specifically identifies the farm ground and water rights as being separate from the
Ø	pastures and particularly the cow pasture.
	Peterson attaches Exhibit 8, a Limited Power of Attorney in which Kouns appointed
0	11

Torgerson "to act in my capacity to do any and all of the following: Have all uses, rights, powers, privileges, etc., associated with my ownership of 130 shares of Koosharem Irrigation Company" and identifies the authority of "my attorney in fact to exercise any and all rights and powers herein granted." The limited power is dated June 22, 2014. The document identifies the fiduciary relationship and appointment of Torgerson as attorney in fact to act for Kouns.

The third identified power of attorney executed by Kouns, Exhibit 9, grants Torgerson the power of attorney to deal with the U.S. Department of Agriculture on "all current and future programs." All authority of Torgerson as an agent was terminated on the death of Kouns as provided in UCA Probate §75-5-502. However, all of Torgerson's claims needed close scrutiny because of the fiduciary relationship. In the case of *In Re Swan*, 293 P.2d 682 and (Utah 1956) the Supreme Court stated:

Where a confidential advisor is made the beneficiary of a will, receives gifts or possible benefits from transaction with the person who relies on his advice and counsel...a presumption of fraud and undue influence arises which shifts the burden of persuading the trier of fact that there was no fraud or undue influence.

Further, in the case of Johnson v. Johnson, 9 Utah 2d 40 337 P.2d 420 (UT 1959) the

Supreme Court in an evaluation of whether Calvin Johnson had taken advantage of an elderly

father in receiving substantial assets stated:

...The Plaintiffs here have sufficient help in the rule that when a confidential relationship is shown to exist and a gift or conveyance is made to a party in superior position a presumption arises that the transaction was unfair...

٢

٢

۲

۲

۲

 $\odot$ 

 $\bigcirc$ 

٧

٢

Torgerson has not filed any probate pleadings, opposing affidavits or other evidence challenging the facts stated.

With the foregoing background, Peterson now directly addresses the argument made by Torgerson and asserts:

The District Court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Torgerson's Rule
 60(b)(1) motion for relief from judgment or order.

## A. Torgerson did not act with sufficient diligence to warrant relief under Rule 60(b)(1).

It is acknowledged that under Rule 60(b)(1) motion for relief a Defendant must show:
 (1) the default judgment was entered because of his excusable neglect; (2) his motion was timely, and (3) he had a meritorious defense to the action. Peterson acknowledges "A district court has broad discretion to rule on a motion to set aside a default judgment under Rule 60(b)." (*Bodell Construction v. Robbins*, 334 P.3d at 1007) Peterson agrees the Court's discretion is not unlimited as stated in *Davis v. Goldsworthy*, 602 UT App. 145, 184
 P.3d 626 (Ut.Ct.App. 2008).

Contrary to the assertions of Torgerson, the objective facts show:

- 1. The complete absence of diligence by Torgerson.
- 2. The request for delay did leave Torgerson in possession of all of the Kouns estate property for his personal use.
- 3. Torgerson and his attorney had notice of all of the probate petition proceedings including:

13

6

Ø

٨

0

Ø

0

٨

(i) The probate petition requesting relief from Torgerson's over reaching.

(ii) The affidavits of Peterson, Talbot and Hatch filed to support the petition and demonstrate the urgency of the estate's situation.

(iii) Torgerson's failure to respond when first advised on <u>August 20, 2015</u> his authority under powers of attorney were terminated; any verbal lease to the estate property was terminated; Torgerson was permitted to complete agricultural year of 2015 but was required to account; Torgerson made no accounting for his 2015 use of all Kouns Estate property.

(iv) Torgerson did assert a claim against the Estate on October 7, 2015 stating he had contract rights. No contract right to the Estate farm property, water stock, irrigation equipment was shown or showing made for "other legal rights" and \$117,000 money amount. The claim was denied October 9, 2015. The denial was not challenged within 60 days as required [Probate Code 75-3-804(2)]

(v) Rickenbach was served with Peterson's Request for Entry of Default Judgment together with a proposed copy of the requested order approving a proposed lease to Talbot and with a proposed Writ of Assistance. Service was by mailing on the 29<sup>th</sup> day of March 2016;

(vi) Rickenbach was given actual notice of the hearing set for April 18, 2016. See mailing affidavit of Jill Miles, legal assistant to Olsen and District Court finding at page 12 of the Court's decision.

14

من

۲

۲

۲

 $\bigcirc$ 

۲

۲

۲

 $\bigcirc$ 

ک

(vi) Rickenbach knew of the hearing since he filed a request for a continuance prior to the scheduled hearing date.

(vii) Torgerson had actual notice of the petition, supporting affidavits, requests for execution of default order and copies of the requested orders for relief.

Torgerson's claim against the Kouns estate was the only responsive act the Court could find. Torgerson showed an abject lack of diligence when he or his lawyer failed to appear at the hearing on the 18<sup>th</sup> day of April, 2016 to argue their motion.

Torgerson has argued in his brief at Page 13 that attorney Lloyd Rickenbach resided
 in the State of Arizona and therefore it was difficult to make a timely response and motion
 appearance by April 18, 2016. The question of time must be considered in the light of
 Rickenbach's filing of notice and entry of appearance for Greg Torgerson in the "Bret Kouns
 Estate Probate 153600021 (served upon both Peterson and Olsen, her attorney November 19, 2015). Also, the statement that Rickenbach is a resident of Arizona is problematical. In the
 initial notice of entry in the estate of Bret Kouns (Addendum 7, Item 1) his address is shown:

Lloyd D. Rickenbach (Rickenbach Law) P.O. Box 44008 Koosharem, UT 84744

All pleadings filed by Rickenbach including Torgerson's Motion for a Continuance filed prior to the hearing of April 18, 2016 and all subsequent motions, memorandums had the following heading on pleadings:

Lloyd D. Rickenbach (096406) P.O. Box 44008 Koosharem, UT 84744

15

٢

۲

٢

6

۲

۲

۲

The address of Lloyd D. Rickenbach shown in the 2016 legal directory published by CitiCorp entitled "The Legal Eagle, Utah's premier legal source" attached as Addendum 7 does show at page 237 the address of:

> Lloyd D. Rickenbach 117 Rickenbach Road Koosharem, UT 84744

Further, Torgerson and his attorney Rickenbach elected to ignore the pending proceedings in the Probate Court which had exclusive jurisdiction over matters at issue. On March 24, 2016 a separate action was filed for declaratory judgment in a separate case, No. 160600010. Torgerson named as Defendants the Estate of Bret Kouns, Pam Peterson (executor), Tex Olsen, attorney for Personal Representative, and Josh Talbot, the lessee of the proposed lease identified in the probate proceedings. The Complaint sought a declaration that Torgerson's lease is valid and "interference with such is actionable, torturous interference".

Torgerson has shown no diligence and has not shown a meritorious defense. His lack of diligence and his attempt to divert the Court's attention by a collateral action appears to have been to promote delay and to intimidate. The delay would have left Torgerson in possession of all of the estate property for his personal use.

## B. Torgerson did not have a meritorious defense to the Kouns estate petition

In addition to the issue of diligence, a primary concern of the District Court was

16

¢

۲

۲

۲

۲

6

۲

۲

0

6

whether Torgerson had a meritorious defense to the Kouns estate petition for relief. During oral argument on July 11, 2016 the District Court insisted that Torgerson make some 0 showing that he had a contractual right granting him possession of the estate property. Torgerson responded by making reference to a check and two short agreements. He ۲ presented a lease agreement dated April 17, 2007 for the lease of "Charlie's Pasture and Town Cow Pasture east of Koosharem for grazing of cattle for a consideration of \$15/head..." The Court was familiar with the lease since it was central in the Peterson's 0 probate petition and three affidavits filed in support of the relief requested in the petition. The estate did not own Charlie's Pasture and the Town Cow Pasture. Torgerson presented 0 no proof that the facts were otherwise. The second agreement was an agreement purported to be entered in to by Kouns on the 21<sup>st</sup> day of May, 2006 with Chad Torgerson as lessee. 0 Chad Torgerson is not a party to the proceedings and has filed no claim of interest in the Kouns estate. The document purported to lease some property located "west of Cazier property, north of the canal for use as feed storage." There was no connection between the ۲ purported agreement to a third party and the approximately 140 irrigated acres with pressurized sprinkler irrigation system and 130 shares of Koosharem Irrigation Company ٢ water stock. When the Court pressed for some meritorious showing of connection to estate property, Torgerson's counsel stated that Torgerson was not required to prove his case at this  $\oslash$ stage of the proceedings.

While Torgerson was not required to prove his case at this point, he was required to

17

٨

۲

show some evidence of merit to obtain Rule 60(b) relief. Such a showing was needed particularly when the Court's review made it appear that Torgerson's claim was frivolous and over-reaching by a fiduciary asserting a right to possession and control of all of the property owned by Kouns at the time of his death.

The District Court closed the hearing on Torgerson's Rule 60(b) motion by taking the matter under advisement. Judge Lee advised those present all matters before the Court would be considered and a written decision issued. On August 15, 2016 the District Court issued a combined Memorandum Decision and Order in cases numbered 153600021 and 160600010. In Case No. 153600021, Torgerson had filed a Motion for Rule 60 Relief from Judgment or Order and a Motion for Rule 64(f) Discharge of Wrongfully Obtained Order and Writ of Assistance.

In Case No. 160600010, Defendants Peterson, Olsen and Talbot, filed a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint. Torgerson's Motion for Rule 60 Relief from Judgment or Order and for Rule 64(f) Discharge of Wrongfully Obtained Order and Writ of Assistance were both denied. Defendants Peterson, Olsen and Talbot's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint was granted.

The Court then carefully considered the background factors before it and the applicable law.

The Court found Torgerson and his attorney, Lloyd Rickenbach, had actual notice of the April 18, 2016 hearing. Although the hearing was not required since Torgerson was in

18

٩

 $\bigcirc$ 

0

۲

۲

0

0

۲

٢

6

default, the hearing was scheduled to give Torgerson further input on the request to the Court for submission and entry of requested default orders in the probate proceedings. Torgerson filed no pleadings or supporting proofs in opposition to the submitted orders. He filed only the request that the hearing be continued. Neither Torgerson or his attorney appeared at the hearing and his request for continuance was denied.

In the denial of Torgerson's Rule 60 motion, the Court did rely upon the Affidavit of Jill Miles certifying that she had mailed on March 30, 2016 actual notice of the April 18, 2016 scheduled hearing to Rickenbach. The finding of the Court that actual notice had been given was reinforced by a study of all notices served upon Torgerson and Rickenbach in the probate litigation including the petition outlining the relief requested, supporting affidavits and service of proposed default orders with a request to submit to the Court which were served upon <u>both</u> Torgerson personally and Rickenbach, his attorney on March 29, 2016.

The District Court in denying Torgerson's Rule 60 motion did find Torgerson did not demonstrate a sufficient meritorious defense to justify relief from the orders previously entered by the Court. Torgerson takes issue with the finding and states the Court relied too heavily upon the fact that Torgerson failed to timely commence proceedings to enforce his claims against the estate contrary to the operation of UCA §75-3-804(2). Therefore, his claim was barred. Torgerson points out that an action for a specific performance is outside of the claim section cited and cites the case of *In Re Estate of Sharp*, 537 at 1037. While the statement made and applied to the situation which existed in the *Estate of Sharp* is correct,

19

٢

۲

۲

۲

۲

6

۲

۲

٢

٢

it is not correct in this case. Torgerson had to demonstrate to the personal representative and also to the District Court that a claim for specific performance existed. Since no reasonable ۲ claim for specific performance exists, the statute of limitations has in fact run. A consideration of a complete bar pursuant to §75-3-804(2) is not controlling. The controlling ۲ fact is the Court determined there was "no meritorious defense". This finding also supported the running of the statute of limitations herein discussed. ۲

In the case of Utah State v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1983) the Supreme

Court stated:

(1055) For this court to overturn the discretion of the lower court in refusing to vacate a valid judgment, the requirements of public policy demand more than a mere statement that a person did not have his day in court when full opportunity for a fair hearing was afforded him or his legal representative.

(1056) We have repeatedly held in order to secure the setting aside of a default judgment, the party in default must show first, excusable neglect, and second, a meritorious defense.

(1057) A meritorious defense is one which sets forth specific and significantly detailed facts which, if proven, would have resulted in a judgment different from the one entered.

Torgerson has failed to make any showing to meet the requirements stated by Utah

Supreme Court.

#### CONCLUSION

Torgerson, as a fiduciary and appointed agent, had taken possession of all of the Kouns Estate property. Following the death of Kouns, Torgerson claimed a continuing right

by reason of an executed contract. He denied all efforts of the personal representative to

۲

6

۲

۲

 $\bigcirc$ 

6

6

marshal the assets of the estate for the benefit of the heirs of Kouns. For a period of approximately one year he used all of the estate property for his benefit. The personal representative was required to file an action to seek Court assistance to obtain possession of the property at a critical time. Torgerson failed to respond to the action where orders were entered terminating his claimed right to possession and authorizing the estate to possess and sell the property. Torgerson's response was a Rule 60(b) Motion to Set Aside the Default Orders entered. At the motion hearing he was given his day in Court and he failed to show any reasonable evidence that a contract granting him use and possession of the Estate property existed. His motion was properly denied.

0

Ø

0

٨

0

٢

Ŵ

Ì

٢

۲

٨

Under these unusual circumstances the carefully considered opinion of the District Court should be affirmed.